UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-40711

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
ver sus

JUAN GABRI EL CI SNERGCS, JAVI ER RQJAS Cl SNERCS
and | VO PEREZ, JR ,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court for the
Sout hern District of Texas

May 13, 1997
Bef ore REAVLEY, GARWOOD, and BENAVI DES, Circuit Judges.
BENAVI DES, Circuit Judge:

This direct crimnal appeal involves three appellants who were
convicted of wvarious drug offenses. In regard to their
convictions, the argunents on appeal include: a Speedy Trial Act
violation; a challenge to the district court's denial of their
motion for new trial; a challenge to the sufficiency of the
evidence; and a violation of the Fourth Anendnent. |In regard to
sentencing, the issues include one of first inpression, nanely,
whet her a deferred adjudication in Texas constitutes a "prior
conviction" in the context of 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(A), a nmandatory

sentence enhancenent provision. Finding no reversible error, we



affirm

| . PROCEDURAL HI STORY

On April 4, 1995, Ivo Perez, Jr. (Perez), Juan Gabriel
Ci sneros (Juan), and Javier Rojas Cisneros (Javier) were charged,!?
along with ten other codefendants, with various drug trafficking
of fenses in a superseding twenty-count indictnment. The follow ng
six counts all alleged violations of 21 US C 8§ 841(a)(l), 8
841(b)(1)(B) and 18 U S.C. § 2. Count 10 charged Perez wth
possession with intent to distribute in excess of 100 kil ograns of
marijuana on March 7, 1992. Count 11 charged Perez with possession
wth intent to distribute in excess of 1000 kil ograns of marijuana
on March 24, 1992. Count 12 charged Perez with possession wth
intent to distribute in excess of 100 kilogranms of marijuana in
August 1992. Counts 13 and 14 charged Juan and Javier wth
possession with intent to distribute in excess of 100 kil ograns of
marijuana in My 1994, Count 19 charged Juan and Javier wth
possession with intent to distribute in excess of 100 kil ograns of
marijuana on June 7, 1994.

Count 17 charged that, from 1986 until the return of the
indictment in April 1995, Perez, Juan, and Javier conspired to
possess with intent to distribute in excess of 1000 kil ograns of
marijuana in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1l), 8 841(b)(1) (A,
and 8 846. Finally, count 20 charged Juan and Javier w th noney
[ aundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A) (i) and (B)(i).

On May 9, 1995, the district court, determ ning that there was

1 Juan and Javier Cisneros are brothers.
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a possible conflict of interest between the C sneroses and Perez,
ordered their common counsel disqualified fromrepresenting Perez.
Perez then retained new counsel. On May 25, Javier noved to
suppress evidence seized from a search of his residence, and
Perez's new attorney noved for a continuance. Both notions were
denied, and a jury trial commenced on June 2, 1995. The jury found
the defendants guilty as charged.

The defendants noved for a newtrial based upon the discovery
of a "new wtness." The district court, after holding an
evidentiary hearing, denied the notion, and sentenced the
def endants as follows: (Juan) 360 nont hs on each of the possession
counts, life inprisonnent on the conspiracy count, and 240 nonths
on the noney laundering count; (Javier) 262 nonths on the
possession and conspiracy counts, and 240 nonths on the noney
| aundering count; (Perez) 240 nonths on all counts.?

1. ANALYSIS

A SPEEDY TRI AL ACT/ CONTI NUANCE

Perez argues that the district court's denial of his notion
for continuance violated the Speedy Trial Act. 18 U.S.C. 8
3161(c) (2). Section 3161(c)(2) provides that "[u]nless the
def endant consents in witing to the contrary, the trial shall not
comence less than thirty days fromthe date on which t he def endant
first appears through counsel or expressly waives counsel and
el ects to proceed pro se.™

When evaluating a district court's ruling involving the Speedy

2 The district court inposed the sentences of each of the
defendants to run concurrently.



Trial Act, we reviewfacts for clear error and | egal concl usi ons de

novo. United States v. Otega-Mena, 949 F.2d 156, 158 (5th Gr.

1991). Here, the facts underlying the district court's ruling are

undi sput ed. On April 20, 1995, Perez, along with his two
codef endants, made his first appearance with counsel. On May 9,
1995, the district court, upon the Governnent's notion

disqualified Perez's counsel due to conflict of interest.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court instructed
counsel to "please advise M. Perez and the nagistrate that this
case is already set for final pretrial and jury sel ection.

It may require additional tinme to be given to the attorney or the
like."

Later that day, Perez appeared before the magi strate judge who
advi sed himthat he should tinely retain counsel and that he was
"entitled to a 30-day period for preparation of trial with the new
attorney." On May 22, Perez retained counsel, who entered his
appearance three days later on May 25, 1995. That sane day,
Perez's new counsel filed a nmotion for a 60-day continuance,
asserting that one week was an insufficient anpunt of tinme to
prepare for a "case of this magnitude." The district court denied
the nmotion without reasons on June 1, and jury sel ection began the
next day. Counsel filed a notion for a 30-day conti nuance on June
2, 1995, which was denied without reasons that sanme day. Trial on
the nerits began on June 12, 1995.

To support his claimthat 8 3161(c)(2) of the Speedy Trial Act
was violated, Perez relies on this Court's decision in United

States v. Storm 36 F.3d 1289 (5th GCr. 1994), cert. denied,
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us _, 115 S C. 1798 (1995). In that case, the two
codef endants, represented by the sane attorney, appeared before the
court on February 12, and the court schedul ed a hearing on February
19, to determ ne whether there existed a potential conflict of
interest. The court also scheduled the trial for March 15. On the
day of the hearing, February 19, the court disqualified Storms
counsel and appointed an attorney to represent him That sane day,
new y appoi nted counsel appeared before the court with Storm At
that time, counsel noved for a continuance based on the Speedy
Trial Act, arguing that going to trial on March 15 would viol ate
the 30-day requirenent for counsel's trial preparation. The
district court denied the notion, "stating that the 30-day period
runs fromthe defendant's first appearance before the court with
counsel, and Stornls first appearance with counsel was nore than 30
days prior tothe trial date." 1d. at 1292. On appeal, this Court
squarely held "that Storm was tried in violation of the 30-day
trial preparation requirement found in 8 3161(c)(2) of the Speedy
Trial Act." [|d. at 1293.

The Government, on the other hand, cites United States V.

Jackson, 50 F.3d 1335 (5th Cr. 1995). In that case, the
defendant's retai ned counsel had at least thirty days to prepare
for trial. That trial ultimtely ended ina mstrial, and retained
counsel w thdrew. The court subsequently appointed counsel for
Jackson on February 18. The court set the date for the second
trial on March 2, pronpting counsel to nove for a continuance
which the district court denied. Jackson appealed to this Court,

argui ng that the denial of his notion for conti nuance conbined with



only seven days' notice to retry the case violated § 3161(c)(2).
This Court rejected his argunent, holding "that, when a defendant
is represented by counsel who has had at | east 30 days in which to
prepare for trial, as Jackson was, 8§ 3161(c)(2) is satisfied; the
retention or appoi ntnment of new counsel does not trigger a new 30-
day period." [d. at 1339.

Unli ke Jackson, Perez's first attorney did not have at | east
30 days to prepare for trial. | nstead, the pertinent facts in

Perez's case are nearly identical to the facts in Storm Storm

clearly controls this case. Accordingly, we conclude that Perez
was tried in violation of the 30-day trial preparation requirenment
in 8§ 3161(c)(2).

The next question is whether such error was harm ess. 1d. at
1294.% Perez adamantly argues that he was prejudiced by having
only nine days to prepare for jury selection and anot her ni ne days
to investigate and prepare for trial. To establish harm Perez
points to the affidavit of Armando Martin-Trevino, which his
counsel obtained after the conclusion of trial.*

After carefully examning the record, we conclude that Perez
has failed to show prejudice. Most inportantly, the evidence

reveals that Trevino would not have testified at Perez's trial

3 Perez recogni zes that we review violations of § 3161(c)(2)
for harm ess error. Nonetheless, he argues that the facts of his
case are such that he should not be required to show prejudice.
Al t hough we are not unsynpathetic to Perez's general assertions
regardi ng "the i ntangi bl e and unprovabl e benefits of bei ng prepared
for trial," our precedent requires a show ng of prejudice. Storm
36 F.3d at 1294.

4 Perez attached this affidavit to his notion for newtrial,
and the district court granted Perez a hearing.
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i nstead, he woul d have i nvoked the Fifth Arendnent. On August 21,
at the hearing on Perez's notion for newtrial, Trevino invoked his
Fifth Amendnent privilege against self-incrimnation. Trevi no
asserted, however, that he would be available to testify for Perez
after the conclusion of his trial in Dallas, which was set to
conmence on Septenber 5.° Upon questioning by the court, Trevino
stated that he woul d not have testified for Perez at the trial that
commenced on June 12. It is therefore clear that, had the district
court properly given Perez's counsel the required 30-day tria
preparation period, Trevino still would not have been available to
testify at Perez's trial. Moreover, even if Trevino had testified
to the matter contained in the affidavit, we are satisfied that
Perez has not shown prejudice sufficient to call for the vacating
of Perez's convictions.
B. MOTI ON FOR NEW TRI AL

The Ci sneroses argue that the district court erred in denying

the notion for new trial based on the prosecution's failure to

di scl ose excul patory evidence in violation of Brady v. Mryland,

373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 1196 (1963).° Modre specifically,
relying on Trevino's aforenentioned affidavit, the G sneroses

assert that the prosecution failed to disclose evidence to the

5> That trial involved an unrel ated charge of conspiracy with
intent to distribute seven and one-half tons of marijuana.

6 Perez also argues that the district court erred in denying
his notion for newtrial. |In support of this claim Perez relies
on the sanme argunents that he nmade to show prejudice in the context
of his Speedy Trial Act violation. For the sane reasons we found
t hose argunents unavailing, we find that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in denying his notion for new trial.
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defense that a deputy sheriff was involved in rmarijuana
trafficking. W review a district court's denial of a notion for

new trial for abuse of discretion. United States v. Adi, 759 F.2d

404, 407 (5th GCr. 1985).
After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the court below
rejected the Brady claim opining as foll ows:

None of the wtnesses called by the Defendant could
corroborate the statenents contained inthe affidavit; in
fact, every witness testified to evidence contrary to
that in the affidavit. Additionally, the w tnesses

notes, taken during the debriefings 1in question

confornmed with the witnesses' present testinony. Thus,
the Court concludes the evidence tends to show the
prosecution did not w thhold excul patory infornmation,
since all the testinony offered, save that contained in
the affidavit, controverts the Defendants' allegations
that the prosecution was given this information.

(enphasi s added).

The G sneros brothers do not address the district court's
finding that the prosecution did not wthhold any excul patory
evidence. The district court's finding is supported by the record.
Al t hough Trevino asserts in his affidavit that during the
debriefings he gave detailed information regarding the deputy
sheriff's invol venent in drug dealing; the evidence at the heari ng,
which the district court believed, indicated Trevino clained that
he never personally dealt with the deputy sheriff and that it was
sinply "common know edge" that the deputy sheriff dealt in drugs.
Under those circunstances, we cannot say the district court erred
in finding that no excul patory evidence was suppressed.

In any event, assum ng arguendo that excul patory information
was W thheld, we find that the information was not material . The

Cisneros brothers argunents regarding the materiality prong of
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Brady are rather vague and specul ati ve. They essentially argue

that the deputy sheriff's testinony, no matter how insignificant,

underm ned the verdict because the witness was a "dirty cop." W
reject this argunent. The hearsay or second-hand assertions
regardi ng the deputy sheriff's involvenent in illegal drugs do not

risetothe level of the materiality standard required to establish

a successful Brady claim See Kyles v. Witley, 514 U S. 419, 115

S.C. 1555 (1995). W conclude that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in denying the notion for new trial.

C. MOTI ON TO SUPPRESS

Javier Cisneros argues that the district court erred in
denying the notion to suppress evidence seized fromhis residence.
He argues that the affidavit used to obtain the warrant did not
provi de probable cause. "Qur review of a district court's denial
of a notion to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a warrant is
limted to (1) whether the good-faith exception to the exclusionary
rule applies, and (2) whether the warrant was supported by probabl e

cause." United States v. Alix, 86 F.3d 429, 435 (5th Gr. 1996).

W& need not address the probable cause inquiry if the good-faith
exception applies. |d.

"[ E] vidence obtained by officers in objectively reasonable
good-faith reliance upon a search warrant is adm ssible, even
though the affidavit on which the warrant was based was

insufficient to establish probable cause.” United States v.

Satterwhite, 980 F.2d 317, 320 (5th Cr. 1992) (citing United

States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 922-23, 104 S. Ct. 3405, 3420 (1984)).

"An officer may rely in good faith on the validity of a warrant so



long as the warrant is supported by nore than a “bare bones
affidavit.'" Alix, 86 F.3d at 435. An affidavit is "bare bones"
if it so deficient in denonstrating probable cause that it renders
an officer's belief in its existence conpletely unreasonable.

Satterwhite, 980 F.2d at 320-21.

In the case at bar, the affidavit supporting the application
for a warrant to search Javier's residence was not a "bare bones"
affidavit. The affidavit was executed by a special agent of the
DEA. It provided a detailed description of the premses to be
searched and sunmari zed the affiant's years of experience as a DEA
agent. It also explained why, based on the agent's experience, he
expected to find evidence of drug trafficking on the prem ses.

The affidavit provided that the affiant's investigation had
uncovered the Belnontes famly's large scale marijuana operation
"As part of the schene[,] various . . . persons hired t he BELMONTES
to transport marijuana for them and others worked wth the
BELMONTES to arrange safe routes around the Border Patrol
Checkpoi nts which are | ocated on roads | eadi ng away fromthe United
St at es/ Mexi can Border. These safe routes utilize back roads and
ranch roads throughout South Texas."

The affidavit then provided information from a confidenti al
i nf or mant . This information tied the Ci sneros brothers to the
Bel nont es organi zation. More specifically, details were set forth
regarding the Ci sneroses' involvenent in transporting |oads of
marij uana on two occasions. Additionally, the C sneroses purchased
a Ford pick-up truck and had the bill of sale put in another

individual's nane. A few nonths later, this particular truck was
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seized. The truck contai ned 526 pounds of marijuana. The affiant
then stated that "[t]he information provided by [the confidential
informant] has been corroborated by other sources and his
information is a result of his active participation in the
BELMONTES drug organi zation."

Javier challenges the sufficiency of the affidavit, arguing
that "it fails to identify the basis of know edge of the
confidential source's information, fails to sufficiently establish
the confidential source'sreliability and credibility, and fails to
establish sufficient police corroboration.” Contrary to Javier's
argunent, the affidavit provides that the informant's know edge was
gained as a result of his active participation in the Bel nontes'
drug organi zation. Moreover, "[u]ncertainty about the veracity of
an i nformant can al so be conpensated for by detail of the statenent
or internal consistency of the statenent and surroundi ng facts."

United States v. Privette, 947 F.2d 1259, 1262 (5th Cr. 1991),

cert. denied, 503 U S 912, 112 S. . 1279 (1992). The agent

specifically averred that the information provided by the
confidential informant had been corroborated by ot her sources.
The affidavit contained nore than "bare bones" assertions. It
furni shed adequate "information to allowthe conclusion that a fair
probability existed that seizable evidence would be found" on

Javier's premses. United States v. Restrepo, 994 F.2d 173, 189

(5th Gr. 1993). The law enforcenent officers' reliance on the
warrant was objectively reasonable, rendering the good-faith
exception applicable. The district court did not err in denying

Javier's notion to suppress.
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D. OBSTRUCTI ON OF JUSTI CE

The Ci sneroses argue that the district court erred by
increasing their respective offense levels by two for obstruction
of justice pursuant to US. S.G § 3Ci1.1. A district court's
determ nation that a defendant has obstructed justice is a factual

finding review for clear error. United States v. Wnn, 948 F. 2d

145, 161 (5th Cr. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U S 976, 112 S. C

1599 (1992). A district court's finding wll not be deened to be
clearly erroneous unless this court is "left with the definite and

firmconviction that a m stake has been commtted." United States

v. Pofahl, 990 F.2d 1456, 1480 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 510 U S

898, 114 S. Ct. 266 (1993) (citations omtted).

Section 3Cl.1 of the sentencing guidelines provides:

If the defendant willfully obstructed or inpeded, or

attenpted to obstruct or inpede, the adm nistration of

justice during the investigation, prosecution, or
sentencing of the instant offense, increase the offense

| evel by 2 levels.

The comment ary provi des that "escapi ng or attenpting to escape from
custody before trial or sentencing"” is an exanple of the type of
conduct that would trigger the application of this enhancenent. 8§
3C1.1, comment. (n.3(e)).

It is undisputed that, while awaiting sentencing in the
instant case, the Ci sneroses were indicted for attenpted escape.
The presentence report (PSR) of both the C sneroses provided that:

According to Brownsville FBI Agent Raul Carballido, there

is evidence to show that both defendants actively

participated in a conspiracy with famly nenbers and
others to attenpt their escape from the Caneron County

Jail . S According to DEA Special Agent Larry
Counci |l man, the Ci sneros brothers bribed a jail guard to
facilitate their escape. Furthernore, evidence shows
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that a cel lul ar phone was found in their possession that
was apparently snuggled in by famly nenbers.

The district court adopted the PSR In light of the C sneroses'
failure to offer any rebuttal evidence, the district court was free
to adopt the facts in the PSR wi thout further inquiry. United
States v. Mr, 919 F.2d 940, 943 (5th Cr. 1990).°

The Ci sneroses further argue that the district court failedto
make a finding that their attenpt to obstruct justice was "wi ||l ful"
as required under 8§ 3Cl.1. We have been unable to |ocate any
specific objectioninthe recordto the district court's failureto
find that the C sneroses conduct was "wllful." In any event,
because there i s evidence that the appellants conspired with others
to attenpt their escape, we are satisfied that the appellants
"voluntarily and intentionally" attenpted to escape, which
satisfies the "willfullness" requirement under 8§ 3Cl.1.8 The
district court did not clearly err in finding that the C sneroses
obstructed justice under § 3Cl.1

E. DEFERRED ADJUDI CATI ON AS A PRI OR CONVI CTI ON UNDER § 841

Juan Cisneros was convicted of conspiring to possess wth
intent to distribute in excess of 1,000 kilograns of marijuana in

violation of 21 U S C 88 846, 841(a)(l), and 841(b)(1)(A).

” Because there is arguably sone tension in this circuit's
precedent regardi ng whether an indictnment may be used to support a
sentencing court's findings, United States v. Wllians, 22 F.3d
580, 582 n.9 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 513 U. S. 951, 115 S. . 367
(1994), we rely only on the representations nmade by the agents.

8 Cf. United States v. O Callaghan, 106 F.3d 1221, 1223 (5th
Cir. 1997) (explaining that our review of record left us unable to
determ ne whether the defendant "willfully" failed to appear for

trial).
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Section 841(b)(1)(A) provides that "[i]f any person conmts a
violation of this subparagraph . . . after two or nore prior
convictions for a felony drug offense have becone final, such
person shall be sentenced to a mandatory termof |ife inprisonnent

W t hout rel ease . Pursuant to this provision, the district
court sentenced Juan Csneros to life inprisonnent. He argues that
one of his previous felonies, a deferred adjudication, was not a
"prior conviction" within the neaning of 8§ 841(b)(1)(A). Thi s
issue is one of first inpression inthis circuit.

Juan Ci sneros properly concedes that, in the absence of clear

| anguage to the contrary, federal |aw governs the application of

federal legislation. See United States v. Vasquez-Bal andran, 76

F.3d 648, 650 (5th Gr. 1996). |In United States v. Morales, 854

F.2d 65, 68 (5th Gr. 1988), we concluded that the neaning of the
phrase "have becone final" in 21 US C § 841(b)(1)(B) was a
question of federal law rather than state law. W expl ained that

state |aw could be |ooked to "for informational purposes, but we
are not bound by its treatnent of a fel ony conviction when we apply
the federal sentence-enhancenent provisions." |d.

In Texas state court, Juan C sneros received deferred
adj udi cation for felony possession of marijuana pursuant to Tex.
Code Crim Proc. art. 42.12, 8§ 3d(a),® which provided that:

When in its opinion the best interest of society and the

defendant will be served, the court may, after receiving

a plea of guilty or plea of nolo contendere, hearing the
evi dence, and finding that it substantiates the

® A subsequent reconfiguration of this statute nobved the
deferred adj udi cation provisions to section 5. See Tex. Code Crim
Proc. 42.12, § 5.
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defendant's guilt, defer further proceedings wthout

entering an adjudication of quilt, and place the

def endant on probati on on reasonabl e terns and condi ti ons
He now argues that the district court erred in determning that his
prior state deferred adjudication was a "prior conviction" for the
purposes of 21 U S.C 8§ 841(b)(1)(A). In the court below, Juan
Ci sneros argued t hat because he had successfully conpl eted his two-
year deferred adjudication probation, it was an excludable drug
of fense and could not be used to enhance his punishnent to a

mandatory |life sentence under 8§ 841(b)(1)(A). The district court

di sagreed, ruling that this Court's decision in United States v.

Graldo-Lara, 919 F.2d 19 (5th Cr. 1990), precluded it from

finding that the previous deferred adjudication was not a prior
convi ction.

In that case, we concluded that a Texas deferred adjudication
probation counted as a "prior sentence" pursuant to US S. G 8§
4A1. 2(a) (1) when calculating a defendant's crimnal history score.
Thi s hol di ng was based on the foll ow ng | anguage i n t he gui del i nes:

Di version fromthe judicial process without a finding of

guilt (e.qg., deferred prosecution) is not counted. A

di versionary disposition resulting from a finding or

adm ssion of guilt, or a plea of nolo contendere, in a

judicial proceeding is counted as a sentence under 8§

4A1. 1(c) even if a conviction is not formally entered,
except that diversion fromjuvenile court i s not counted.

US S G 8§ 4A1. 2(f). As previously set forth, deferred
adj udication in Texas requires that a defendant first plead guilty

or nolo contendere. Art. 42.12 § 3d(a). Therefore, applying the

plain |anguage of 8§ 4Al1.2(f), it was clear that a deferred

adj udi cation was a "prior sentence" for purposes of calculating a
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defendant's crimnal history score. Although perhaps instructive,

Graldo-Lara is not dispositive of the issue at bar, i.e., whether

a deferred adjudication constitutes a "prior conviction" under 21
US C § 841(b)(1)(A.1¥®

The Governnent asserts that holding that Juan's deferred
adj udi cati on was such a "prior conviction" would pronote the policy
that defendants who obtain the advantage of a rehabilitative
sentence but nevertheless continue to commt crinmes should not
receive further | eniency. See 8§ 4A1.2, comment. (n.9). Thi s
policy concern was expressed in the opinions of our sister circuits
t hat have deci ded that deferred adj udi cati ons or probated sentences

constitute convictions in the context of 8 841. See United States

v. Mejias, 47 F.3d 401, 404 (11th Cr. 1995); United States v.

Meraz, 998 F.2d 182, 184-85 (3d Cr. 1993); United States V.

Canpbel I, 980 F.2d 245, 249-51 (4th Gr. 1992), cert. denied, 508

US 952, 113 S . C. 2446 (1993); see also United States V.

McAllister, 29 F.3d 1180, 1184-85 (7th Cir. 1994).
In making that determ nation, several of the circuits were

gui ded by the Suprene Court's opinion in Dickerson v. New Banner

Institute, 460 U.S. 103, 103 S.Ct. 986 (1983). Mejias, 47 F.3d at
403; McAllister, 29 F.3d at 1184-85; Canpbell, 980 F.2d at 251. |In

10 Simlarly, in United States v. Stauder, 73 F.3d 56 (5th
Cr. 1996), relying on the above-quoted |anguage in 8§ 4Al.2(f),
this Court held that a Texas deferred adj udi cati on was a convi ction
for purposes of determ ning a defendant's base offense | evel under
8§ 2K2. 1. We recognized that "[a]lthough 8 2K2.1 uses the term
“conviction,' it refers specifically to the crimnal history
provisions, which . . . include deferred adjudications such as
Stauder's in calculating a defendant's crimnal history score."
Id. at 57. Like Graldo-Lara, Stauder nmay be informative, but it
does not control the disposition of this case.
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D ckerson, the Suprene Court determ ned that the defendant's prior
guilty plea was a conviction that could be used to deny him a
license to deal firearns under 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g). That section
"impose[d] disabilities on one convicted of a “crine punishabl e by
i nprisonnment for a termexceeding one year.'" D ckerson, 460 U S.
at 113, 103 S. Ct. at 992 (enphasis omtted). There, the defendant
had pleaded guilty in lowa state court to the crine of carrying a
conceal ed handgun, and the state court "deferred" entry of forma
j udgnent and pl aced hi mon probation. After the conpletion of his
term of probation, the defendant was discharged and his record
expunged.

The Court explained that "'[a] plea of quilty differs in
purpose and effect from a nere adm ssion or an extrajudicial
confession; it isitself a conviction. Like averdict of ajury it
is conclusive. Mre is not required; the court has nothing to do

but give judgnent and sentence.'" 1d. at 112-13, 103 S.C. at 992
(quoting Kercheval v. United States, 274 U S. 220, 223, 47 S. C

582, 583 (1927)). The Court determ ned that "for purposes of the
federal gun control laws, we equate a plea of guilty and its
notation by the state court, followed by a sentence of probation,
with being convicted" within the | anguage of 88 922(g) and (h)."
Id. at 113, 103 S.Ct. at 992. Finally, the Court opined that the
expunction under lowa |aw did not change "the historical fact of
the conviction." 1d. at 114-15, 103 S.Ct. at 993.

In the case at bar, after receiving Juan Cisneros's guilty
pl ea and hearing the evidence, the state trial court had to find

that the evidence substantiated Csneros's guilt in order to defer
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the proceedings without entering an adjudication of guilt. Art.
42.12 § 3d(a). Applying the reasoning of Dickerson, we conclude
that Juan G sneros's guilty plea that resulted in a deferred
adj udication was a "prior conviction" for purposes of sentence
enhancenment under 8§ 841(b)(1)(A). The district court properly
sentenced himto life inprisonnent.

F. SUFFI Cl ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE

Finally, all three appellants nake weak challenges to the
sufficiency of the evidence to support their convictions. W find
no nmerit in their argunents.

Perez first argues that the Governnent failed to prove as to
count 10 (unlawful possession of in excess of 100 kil ogranms of
marijuana on March 7, 1992) that he ever "possessed" the anount of
drugs specified in the indictnent. Perez concedes that over 1,000
pounds of marijuana was seized at |srael Cardenas's!!' house, but
asserts that Arnol do Bel nontes' trial testinony attributed directly
to himonly "40 pounds" (roughly 18 kilograns) of the marijuana.
Perez al so generally alleges that the evidence was insufficient to
prove he possessed any anount, but that at nost it was forty
pounds. Perez’'s argunent is unavailing because the issue here is
not ownership, however that may have been decided anong the

conspirators, but "possession," be it actual or constructive. See

United States v. Mdlinar-Apodaca, 889 F.2d 1417, 1423 (5th Gr.

1989) (defining "constructive possession as the know ng exercise

11 Cardenas testified that because he needed nbney, he stored
over 1,000 pounds of marijuana at his house for the Bel nontes. In
exchange for his testinony at trial, the Governnent did not file
charges agai nst Cardenas.
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of , or the knowi ng power or right to exercise dom nion and control
over the prescribed substance") (citation and internal quotation
omtted). Viewed in the light nost favorable to the Governnent,
the evidence is sufficient to show that Perez constructively
possessed marijuana in relation to count 10. A reasonable juror
could have easily found the elenents of the offense beyond a
reasonabl e doubt.

Perez next clains that the Governnent failed to prove the
anount of drugs alleged in count 11 (unlawful possession of in
excess of 1000 kil ograns). Perez clainms that in Stipulation No. 4,
the Governnent stipulated that 271 kil ograns and 660 kil ograns of
marijuana were seized on Mrch 24, 1992; this total of 931
kilograns is less than that charged in the offense. Contrary to
Perez's argunent, this Court has held that "[p]roof of the quantity
of controlled substances at issue is not an el enent of an offense

under 21 U. S.C. 88 841(a) and 846." United States v. Mntes, 976

F.2d 235, 240 (5th CGr. 1992), cert. denied, 507 U S. 1024, 113

S.C. 1831 (1993). Therefore, Perez's argunent that the evidence
was i nsufficient to sustain his conviction for count 11 necessarily
fails.

In regard to count 12, which involved unl awful possession of

i n excess of 100 kil ograns of marijuana "in or about August, 1992,"

Perez alleges that no testinony established the exact nonth in
whi ch the “drug caravan” which was the subject of this indictnment
occurr ed. Perez acknowl edges that a driver involved in the
incident alleged in count 12, testified, albeit pursuant to

"l eading questions,"” that Perez acted as a guide several nonths
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after the March 24, 1992 incident alleged in count 11. "It is
sufficient if the evidence denonstrates a date reasonably near the

date alleged inthe indictnent." United States v. Bowrman, 783 F. 2d

1192, 1197 (5th Cir. 1986). 12 Perez's sufficiency argunent as to
count 12 fails as well.

The Cisneroses conplain that their convictions were based
entirely wupon the wuncorroborated testinony of a nunber of
coconspirators who had nade deals with the Governnent and that the
resulting convictions are so unreliable they cannot stand. Their
argunent focuses not on the quantity of the evidence but rather the
quality of the evidence.

The lawin this circuit is that a conviction may be sustai ned
on the uncorroborated testinony of an acconplice or of a person who

has entered into a plea bargain with the Governnent. United States

V. OGsum 943 F.2d 1394, 1405 (5th Gr. 1991). Al t hough the
Cisneros brothers acknow edge our precedent, they neverthel ess
persist in their clains. They present nothing to indicate that
Gsum should not apply to this case. Mor eover, the telephone

records and the testinony of |aw enforcenent officers regarding

12 Perez al so chal |l enges the sufficiency of the evidence on
count 17, the conspiracy count. Perez argues that the indictnent
charges himwi th conspiring with a dozen individuals to traffick in
marijuana, but that at trial the only conspirator he was ever
linked to was Arnol do Bel nontes. Perez clains that the Governnent
did not prove the conspiracy alleged, but rather proved several
smal | er conspiracies, only one of which included him but all of
which contained the commobn ingredient of Arnoldo Belnontes.
Contrary to Perez's assertion, viewing the evidence in the |ight
nost favorable to the governnent, the evidence was not such that it
woul d preclude reasonable jurors fromfinding a single conspiracy
beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Mrris, 46 F.3d 410,
415 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, = US _ , 115 S.C. 2595 (1995).
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sei zures of vehicles containing drugs circunstantially supported
the coconspirator testinony. The Ci sneroses elicited details of
each wtnesses' arrangenent wth the Governnent on cross-
exam nation in front of the jury; no nore is required. See United

States v. Jaras, 86 F.3d 383, 387-88 (5th Cr. 1996).1

Regardi ng the noney |aundering count, the Governnent relies
upon the G sneros brothers' purchase of a truck for cash, the
titling of that truck in another's nanme, and the use of that truck

for drug transportation. The evidence is sufficient on all counts.

AFFI RVED.

13 The Cisneroses further suggest that the district court
erred by not instructing the jury that corroboration of the
coconspirators' testinony was needed. The court did instruct the
jury that it should consider with great care the acconplice
testinony. 1In any event, in light of our precedent, the C sneroses
have not shown that the district court erred.
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